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The Department of Public Service (“Department” or “DPS”) submits this memorandum

in response to the Board’s Memorandum dated November 1,2011 (“11/1 Memo”) requiring the

parties to submit responses to a joint motion filed by the Towns of Albany and Craftsbury (“the

Towns”) and Don and Shirley Nelson (“Nelsons”) on October 31, 2011, seeking to stay blasting

operations at the Kingdom Community Wind (“KCW”) Project in Lowell, Vermont. The motion

alleges a violation of Condition 36 of the Certificate of Public Good based upon the alleged

projection of flyrock and a piece of blasting mat onto the Nelsons’ property and outside the

permit boundary. As set forth below, the Department believes that Condition 36 was violated on

October 28, 2011, but that if appropriate safeguards are followed, further violations of this nature

will be prevented.

The Department has reviewed the materials the Towns and the Nelsons filed with the

Board as well as Green Mountain Power’s (“GMP”) response. The Department reserves its right

to present further briefing on this issue should additional evidence be presented to the Board



pursuant to its memorandum.1

I. FACTS

The following facts are undisputed. On October 28, 2011, two individuals were present

on the Nelsons’ property and observed blasting being performed at the Project site. See

Affidavit of Fred Scholz dated October 30, 2011 (“Scholz Aff.”) at ¶ 19; Affidavit of Margot

Kempers dated October 30, 2011 (“Kempers Aff.”) at ¶ 3; Affidavit of David Coriell dated

October 31, 2011 (“Coriell Aff.”) at ¶ 5. After the blast went off, a piece of blasting mat was

propelled onto the Nelsons’ property. Coriell Aff. at ¶ 9, Attachment 1 to Coriell Aff. At the

time of the blast, in addition to Mr. Scholz and Ms. Kempers, there were a number of individuals

present less than 1000 feet from the blast site. Coriell Aff. at ¶ 8, Attachment 1 to Coriell Aff.

There is a dispute as to whether flyrock was also propelled onto the Nelsons’ property.

See Scholz Aff. at fi 20-22, attachments to Scholz Aff.; Kempers Aff. at ¶31 6-8;. Coriell Aff. at

TiE 9, 12; Affidavit of Mark Billings dated October 31, 2011 (“Billings Aff.”) at ¶ 10. Witnesses

Scholz and Kempers state that they saw and heard flyrock being deposited on the Nelsons’

property, and have presented photographs which they state were taken after the incident and

which appear to show stones as well as the piece of blasting mat (the copies of the photographs

are not high quality and it is difficult to interpret them). See Scholz Aff. at ¶(j[ 20-22, attachments

to Scholz Aff.; Kempers Aff. at ¶3[ 6-8. Witnesses Coriell and Billings state that they did not see

flyrock being deposited on the Nelsons’ property. Coriell Aff. at ¶J[ 9, 12; Billings Aff. at ¶ 10.

1 In its Memorandum, the Board notes that the Towns and the Nelsons have failed to alleged sufficient facts to
establish that they are entitled to a temporary restraining order or a preliminary injunction. Il/I Memo at 1-2.
Therefore, the Department will not address those questions, but will confine this response to the question of whether
there is evidence of a violation or violations of the CPG.
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II. LEGAL ANALYSIS

A. Blasting Requirements

Under the CPG,

All blasting shall be carried out by licensed and certified blasting technicians. All
blasting will be performed in accordance with any and all applicable laws and
regulations, including, but not limited to, U.S. Department of Interior Rules 816.61-68
and 8 17.61-68 and the Blasting Guidance Manual, Office of Surface Mining,
Reclamation and Enforcement, U.S. Department of Interior to limit peak particle velocity
and ground vibration to safe levels. Noise and air blast effects shall be limited through
application of proper techniques and blasting mats will be used where needed to limit the
occurrence of flyrock.

Certificate of Public Good dated May 31, 2011, Condition 36.

The referenced Department of Interior rules read, in pertinent part: “[alccess within the

blasting area shall be controlled to prevent presence of . . . unauthorized persons during

blasting,” and “[bjlasting shall be conducted to prevent injury to persons, damage to public or

private property outside the permit area. . .“ 30 C.F.R. § 8 16.67(a). The rules further require

that “[f]lyrock travelling in the air or along the ground shall not be cast from the blasting site—

Beyond the permit boundary.” 30 C.F.R. § 816.67(c).2

Vermont law also requires compliance with the National Fire Protection Association

(NFPA) Uniform Fire Code (“NFPA 1”), relevant provisions of which are attached to the

Towns’ and Nelsons’ motion. Under the relevant provisions of NFPA 1, “[flyrock shall not be

propelled from the blast site onto property not contracted by the blasting operation or onto

property for which the owner has not provided a written waiver to the blasting operation.”

NFPA 495 § 11.3.2. NFPA 1 also provides that “flyrock travelling through the air or along the

ground shall not be cast from the blast site in an uncontrolled manner that could result in

personal injury

2 The requirements contained in 30 C.F.R. § 817.66 and 817.67 are virtually identical to these provisions, and the
Blasting Manual basically reiterates these requirements.
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or property damage.” NFPA 495 § 11.3.1. NFPA 1 also recognizes that strict compliance with

these standards may not be achievable: “[wihere blasting operations do not conform to 11.3.1

and 11.3.2, the [blasting company] shall require that special precautions be employed to reduce

or control flyrock.” 495.11.3.3.

Finally, GMP’s Blasting Plan provides as follows:

Access to blasting area shall be regulated to protect the public from the effects of
blasting. Access to the blasting area shall be controlled to prevent unauthorized entry
before each blast and until the perimeter’s authorized representative has determined that
no unusual circumstances exist after the blast. Access to and travel in or through the area
can then safely resume.

Blasting Plan for Kingdom Community Wind dated July 26, 2011, at 3 (emphasis supplied).

B. Potential Violations

While the parties have focused on the potential violation of the CPG caused when flyrock

was allegedly propelled onto the Nelsons’ property, it is the Department’s view that the CPG was

violated whether or not flyrock landed on site3 because it is undisputed that on October 28, 2011

there were a number of individuals present who were not authorized to be present in the “blasting

area” and who could have been struck by blast debris. This is a violation of Condition 36 of the

CPG.

First, 30 C.F.R. § 816.66(c) and 817(c) require that “blasting be conducted to prevent

injury to persons, damage to public or private property outside the permit area. . .“ 30 C.F.R. §

8 16.66(c) and 8 17(c). The Blasting Plan requires that “[a]ccess to blasting area shall be

regulated to protect the public from the effects of blasting. Access to the blasting area shall be

controlled to prevent unauthorized entry before each blast.” Finally, GMP’s contractors

acknowledge that several individuals were present within the 1000 foot safety zone they require

There is a factual dispute as to this allegation, which would require a hearing to determine whether flyrock left the
project boundary.
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when carrying out blasting activities, and that they were aware of their presence in advance of

the blasting. Coriell Aff. at ¶ 8, Attachment 1 to Coriell Aff. While GMP took steps to prevent

the presence of individuals when blasting took place on October 28, the fact remains that such

individuals were present and that blasting debris was propelled in close proximity to those

individuals.

Due to GMP’s efforts to secure the blasting area, there was a Temporary Restraining

Order in place on October 28, but GMP chose not to call in law enforcement personnel to

enforce the TRO. The Department recognizes the difficult position GMP and its contractors are

in. However, GMP must adhere to the terms of the CPG and its Blasting Plan and “prevent

unauthorized entry before each blast.”

At this juncture, GMP has obtained a preliminary injunction from the Orleans Superior

Court4 that should serve to prevent further instances of people being present within the safety

zone when blasting occurs, assuming its terms are enforced. The Department does not believe

the Board need do anything further in that regard. As for the potential consequences for the

October 28 event, if the Board agrees that there was a violation of CPG Condition 36 on that date

that may warrant sanctions in addition to the remedial measures already taken, the Department

will provide further briefing on the issue.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the Department believes that Condition 36 was violated

While not relevant to the question of CPG compliance, the Department notes that the Orleans Superior Court, in its
decision dated November 1, 2011 (previously submitted by GMP), stated that “[c]ompletion of the project by
December 31, 2012 is necessary to ensure that the public receives the maximum benefit from this project via the
federal PTCs.” Green Mountain Power Corporation v. Nelson, Docket No. 256-10-11 Osev, Order Re; Cross-
Motions for Temporary Relief (Orleans Sup. Ct. Nov. 1, 2011) at 8. The Department notes that while the loss of
PTCs would undoubtedly have an impact on power costs, the impact on ratepayers will be determined by the Board.
Because there have been multiple sources of delay, if PTCs are lost the Department would expect to examine the
cause of such loss in detail and report its findings to the Board prior to a determination of ratepayer recovery.
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on October 28, 2011. The Department is prepared to provide recommendations regarding the

appropriate response to that violation if the Board believes it warranted in light of the remedial

measures now in place.

Dated at Montpelier, Vermont, this 4th day of November, 2011.

VERMONT DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SERVICE

cc: Service list

Beling, Director for Public Advocacy
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